## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

I. To support a conviction for second-degree murder, the government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that there were no circumstances that mitigated the defendant's mental state. The first issue presented is whether the trial court erred when it responded to a jury question by instructing that whether the mitigating circumstance of "heat of passion" existed depended on the proportionality of the defendant's act, and not on the proportionality of the emotional response and loss of control.

II. This Court merges convictions resulting from a continuous course of assaultive conduct. The second issue presented is whether Defendant's assault convictions, as well as related convictions for possession of a single weapon, merge because they were related to only a single, continuous assaultive act.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

After a three-day trial before the Honorable Robert Okun and three days of deliberation, a jury convicted appellant Marcus Walker of (1) second-degree murder while armed, (2) assault with a deadly weapon, (3) assault with a deadly weapon against a minor, (4) three counts of possession of a firearm during a crime of violence, (5) second-degree child cruelty, and (6) possession of a large capacity ammunition feeding device. App. 626–29. It found him not guilty of first-degree murder. App. 626. The court sentenced Mr. Walker to thirty years’ incarceration—twenty years for the murder conviction, five years for each assault, and the remaining sentences running concurrently. App. 662.

Mr. Walker timely appealed. App. 664–83. This Court has jurisdiction because this is an appeal from a final order disposing of all claims. *See* D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### A. Evidence at Trial.

The trial concerned the fatal shooting of Eric King, which occurred in an apartment rented by Witness One (“W1”) in the Carver-Langston neighborhood in Northeast D.C. App. 98. Marcus Walker and his two young children lived in the apartment with W1 at the time of the alleged offenses. Mr. Walker and W1 had previously been in a romantic relationship. App. 99. After they broke up, and while Mr. Walker and his children were living in the apartment, W1 began dating Mr. King. App. 100-02. W1 had her own child, a six-year-old girl referred to hereinafter as the “minor child.” App. 98.

On the night in question, Mr. Walker, W1, and Mr. King sat together in W1’s bedroom watching television. App. 104. W1 described the scene as “fine and perfect.” App. 104.

Later that evening, Mr. King and W1 asked Mr. Walker to leave the bedroom so they could go to sleep. App. 105. Mr. Walker left and returned to the adjacent living room where he was staying with his two children. App. 105-06. W1 and Mr. King then began having sex, with the minor child in the bed with them. App. 108, 121. W1 testified that she believed Mr. Walker could not hear them having sex. App. 159-60.

From the living room of the apartment, Mr. Walker sent text messages to W1, describing her conduct as “disrespectful” because he and his children were in the adjoining room. App. 113-14.<sup>1</sup> He also expressed concern for the minor child because he believed she might be in the same bed as the couple. App. 114-15. W1 responded to Mr. Walker’s text messages. App. 114-15.

At trial, W1 testified that, after she and Mr. Walker exchanged text messages, Mr. Walker opened the adjoining room door, entered the bedroom, and found W1 and Mr. King having sex. App. 116, 123. Mr. Walker asked the couple to stop, but the couple declined and told him to leave. App. 118-19. Mr. King began getting up to confront Mr. Walker, and according to W1, Mr. Walker then shot Mr. King in the chest. App. 118-20. Mr. King fell back onto the bed, and W1 moved to apply pressure to his wound. App. 120. W1 testified that Mr. Walker muttered something and then shot Mr. King again in his “private area.” App. 120. W1 sustained some gunpowder stippling. App. 126, 350.<sup>2</sup> W1 testified that after shooting Mr. King, Mr. Walker left the apartment with his two children. App. 122. Mr. King later died of his gunshot wounds. App. 353.

---

<sup>1</sup> The record does not clearly indicate whether Mr. Walker knew W1 and Mr. King were engaged in sexual activity at the time. *Compare* App. 113-14 *with* App. 159-60.

<sup>2</sup> “Stippling” refers to small skin injuries caused by gunpowder fragments. App. 347.

On cross-examination, the defense impeached W1 with a prior accusation that she made and later recanted. Previously, W1 had called the police claiming that another ex-boyfriend had attacked her. App. 178. She reported to the investigating officer that the ex-boyfriend had choked her, pinned her against a wall, and pulled a gun on her. App. 178. Subsequently, she sent an email to the ex-boyfriend's attorney confessing that the accusations were false. App 179-80.

Other than W1's testimony, the only evidence the government presented potentially linking Mr. Walker to the shooting was (1) DNA on a single bullet casing and (2) a blurry and indistinct photo of a person carrying two children around the time of the shooting near the apartment. App. 280, 303-04. No witness identified Mr. Walker as the person in the photo.

**B. Jury Instructions, Verdict, and Sentence.**

After the close of evidence, the trial court instructed the jury on: (1) first-degree premeditated murder while armed, (2) second-degree murder while armed, (3) voluntary manslaughter while armed, (4) possession of a firearm during a crime of violence, (5) assault with a dangerous weapon, (6) assault with a dangerous weapon against a minor, (7) second-degree cruelty to children, and (8) possession of a large capacity ammunition feeding device. App. 576, 580-81, 583.

With respect to the murder charges, the court instructed that the government was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that there were no mitigating

circumstances for the alleged homicide. App. 579. Defining mitigating circumstances, the court explained:

Mitigating circumstances can exist when a person acts in the heat of passion caused by adequate provocation. Heat of passion includes such emotions such as rage, resentment, anger, terror and fear. Adequate provocation is conduct on the part of another that would cause an ordinary, reasonable person in the heat of the moment to lose his self-control and act on impulse and without reflection. For a provocation to be considered “adequate,” the person’s response must not be entirely out of proportion to the seriousness of the provocation. An act of violence or an immediate threat of violence may be adequate provocation, but mere words, no matter how offensive, are never adequate provocation.

App. 578-79.

At the end of the first full day of deliberation, the jury sent a note to the court asking two questions about mitigating circumstances. App. 562, 589, 603. *First*, referring to the instruction that “[f]or a provocation to be considered ‘adequate,’ the person’s response must not be entirely out of proportion to the seriousness of the provocation,” the jury asked,

When discussing “adequate provocation,” should we define the response as heat of passion, “such emotions as rage, resentment, anger, terror, and fear,” OR the acts you carried out because of heat of passion? We are working from the language on page 14 continued on page 15 of the “Jury Instructions” in Section titled “Mitigating Circumstances.”

App. 589. Second, the jury also asked for “an alternative definition of mitigating circumstances that is more concrete or streamlined or plainspoken.” App. 589.

In response to the jury’s questions, the parties submitted competing proposed answers. App. 590, 595. The government advocated answering the first question by simply telling the jury that “response” referred to the violent act. App. 591. The defense disagreed and proposed answering in the form of a revised instruction that, *inter alia*, indicated that the adequate-provocation inquiry pertained to “heat of passion.” App. 599 (proposing that jury be instructed, “If a homicide is committed in the heat of passion caused by adequate provocation, then the defendant is not guilty of the offense of first or second degree murder.”); App. 604-05.

Adopting the government’s proposed interpretation of “response,” the Court answered the first part of the jury’s note as follows:

So in response to your first question, page 14 of the final instruction states: For a provocation to be considered adequate, the person’s response must not be entirely out of proportion to the seriousness of the provocation. *In this case, the word response refers to Mr. Walker’s alleged shooting of Mr. King.* In heat of passion could [include] such emotions as rage, resentment, anger, terror, or fear. I want to remind you that for either first degree murder while armed or second degree murder while armed, the government must prove [beyond] a reasonable doubt that Mr. Walker was not acting in the heat of passion caused by adequate provocation.

App. 621-22 (emphasis added); *see also* App. 600.

In response to the second part of the jury note—requesting further description of mitigating circumstances—the trial court advised the jury:

So in response to your second question, mitigating circumstances exist where the person acts in the heat of passion caused by adequate provocation. Provocation is adequate when it would naturally induce a reasonable person in the passion of the moment to lose self-control and commit the act on impulse and without reflection. The circumstances must be such that an ordinary person in the defendant's circumstances might become sufficiently upset by the provocation to experience a substantial impairment of his capacity for self-control and as a consequence to act violently.

App. 622; *see also* App. 600. After receiving this response and revised instruction, the jury deliberated for two additional days. App. 629.

At the conclusion of deliberations, the jury found Mr. Walker not guilty of first-degree murder while armed. App. 626. It convicted him of (1) second-degree murder while armed, (2) assault with a deadly weapon, (3) assault with a deadly weapon against a minor, (4) three counts of possession of a firearm during a crime of violence, (5) second-degree child cruelty, and (6) possession of a large capacity ammunition feeding device. App. 626-29.

During sentencing, defense counsel argued that the convictions for possession of a firearm during a crime of violence should merge. App. 656-67. The trial court observed that Mr. Walker “might have a very meritorious merger argument” but deferred to the Court of Appeals to decide the issue. App. 656. The court sentenced

Mr. Walker to thirty years in prison—twenty years for second-degree murder and five years for each of the assault convictions. App. 662. The court directed that sentences for the remaining convictions run concurrently. App. 662. The court also assessed \$800 under the Victims of Violence Crime Compensation Act—\$100 for each conviction. App. 662.

Mr. Walker timely appealed from this final order. App. 664.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should vacate and remand Mr. Walker's murder conviction and merge his assault convictions as well as his convictions for possession of a firearm during a crime of violence.

*First*, the murder conviction rests on an erroneous legal foundation and should be vacated. To convict an individual of second-degree murder, the government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that no circumstances existed that would mitigate the actor's mental state and thereby reduce the crime to voluntary manslaughter. During deliberations, the jury sought clarification of the jury instruction for mitigating circumstances, asking whether the requirement of "adequate provocation" applied (i) to provocation of the heat of passion; or (ii) to provocation of the violent act. The correct answer to that specific question is option (i). The trial court, however, answered with option (ii), instructing the jury that to find adequate provocation, it must find that the *act* of shooting Mr. King was not entirely disproportionate to the provocation. That instruction is contrary to District of Columbia law and therefore requires that the second-degree murder conviction be vacated and remanded.

Under this Court's precedents, "adequate provocation" concerns whether the defendant reasonably lost self-control and acted without a *mental state* of malice. *See Comber v. United States*, 584 A.2d 26, 41-42 (D.C. 1990) (en banc). D.C. law

has long held that a person who commits homicide in the “heat of passion” (*i.e.*, because the actions of another reasonably caused him to lose self-control and act on impulse) is less culpable than one who kills another person without provocation. *See id.* In either instance, homicide remains a culpable, disproportional act. But an individual who acts because he reasonably lost self-control acts without malice and thus may be convicted only of manslaughter, not murder. *Id.* at 46. Here, in response to the jury’s inquiry, the trial court directed the jury to assess the reasonableness of Mr. Walker’s alleged shooting of Mr. King (the act), rather than to evaluate the reasonableness of Mr. Walker’s loss of control (his mental state), given the provocation. This was legal error because it required the jury to apply the adequate provocation test solely to the act rather than to Mr. Walker’s *mental state*, contrary to controlling law. The court’s erroneous instruction thus allowed the jury to convict Mr. Walker of murder without finding beyond a reasonable doubt that he acted with a mental state of malice, an essential element of the crime of murder in the District. *See id.* at 41.

*Second*, several of Mr. Walker’s convictions should merge because the alleged acts constituted a single continuous assault. Based on two gunshots fired at the same person in rapid succession, Mr. Walker was convicted of not just murder but two counts of assault with a deadly weapon; three counts of possession of a firearm during a crime of violence; and second-degree child cruelty. Because

Mr. Walker did not reach a “fork in the road” between the two gunshots, he could not have formed a new intent between the two gunshots. Therefore, they constitute a single assaultive act, which can support only one assault-related conviction (in this case, either second-degree murder or voluntary manslaughter). The two counts of assault with a deadly weapon merge into the murder or manslaughter conviction.

Most clearly, the conviction for assault with respect to the minor child should merge. Even if this Court were to treat the two shots as separate assaults, two shots do not support three assaultive convictions, especially because the evidence at trial indicated that the minor child was not in the path of physical injury.

Further, the three convictions for possession of a firearm during a crime of violence should merge into a single conviction. These convictions are related to the murder and assault convictions discussed above. As explained, those predicate convictions merge. Finally, the pendent possession convictions must follow suit. Even if the predicate convictions did not merge, the possession convictions still merge because they relate to the same assaultive act and the same weapon.

## ARGUMENT

This Court should (1) vacate Mr. Walker’s murder conviction because the trial court erroneously instructed the jury on the mitigating-circumstances element of adequate provocation and (2) merge the multiple convictions for assault and possession of a firearm during a crime of violence.

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT’S ANSWER TO THE JURY QUESTION MISSTATED GOVERNING LAW, AND THAT ERROR HARMED DEFENDANT WALKER.**

As demonstrated below, the trial court erred by instructing the jury to consider the proportionality of Mr. Walker’s alleged act of killing Mr. King to the provocation, rather than the proportionality of his heat of passion (mental state) to that provocation. That erroneous instruction fundamentally undermined and prejudiced the jury verdict.

#### **A. The Trial Court’s Answer Misstated the Law.**

Consistent with D.C. Criminal Jury Instruction 4.202 (homicide, mitigating circumstances element), the trial court initially instructed the jury that “[f]or a provocation to be considered ‘adequate,’ the person’s *response* must not be entirely out of proportion to the seriousness of the provocation.” App. 578 (emphasis added). During deliberations, the jury sent a note asking whether the term “response,” referred to (a) the “heat of passion” or (b) “the acts [ ] carried out because of [the]

heat of passion.” App. 589. The jury also asked the court to give an “alternative” explanation of mitigating circumstances. App. 589.

The parties disagreed over how to answer the jury’s questions, and each submitted different recommended answers. App. 603. The government proposed a simplistic answer to the jury’s question: telling the jury only that the term “response” refers to the act. App. 591-92. As discussed below, defense counsel argued for a revised instruction that explained that provocation must be adequate to cause the heat of passion mental state (not the violent act or its result). App. 599.

The court adopted the government’s proposed answer to the jury’s primary question, instructing the jury that “the word response refers to Mr. Walker’s alleged shooting of Mr. King.” App. 621. Placed in context of the existing mitigation instruction, the court effectively re-instructed the jury that: “For [the] provocation to be considered ‘adequate,’ the [‘alleged shooting of Mr. King’] must not be entirely out of proportion to the seriousness of the provocation.” App. 578, 621.

That revised instruction was erroneous. The trial court erred by instructing the jury that, to determine the adequacy of the provocation, it should evaluate the proportionality of the alleged *act* (shooting) to the provocation, rather than the proportionality of Mr. Walker’s *mental state* (heat of passion) to the provocation. The result of that fundamental misstatement of governing law was an erroneous murder conviction.

**i. Standard of Review.**

Because defense counsel raised and preserved an objection to the trial court’s re-instruction, this Court reviews that ruling *de novo*. *Evans v. United States*, 304 A.3d 211, 219 (D.C. 2023). Defense counsel made clear he was preserving the objection at the end of the conference with the judge by reiterating that the defense still objected to the instruction and the court had overruled that objection. App. 620.

**ii. Under District of Columbia Law, the Sole Difference Between Murder and Voluntary Manslaughter is the Defendant’s Mental State—Presence of Mitigating Circumstances Negates the Mental State of Malice Required For Murder.**

This case involves a *partial* defense to a murder charge, that the presence of mitigating circumstances (“heat of passion” caused by adequate provocation) reduces the culpability of the perpetrator of a homicide and therefore precludes a murder conviction (reducing an intentional homicide from murder to manslaughter).<sup>3</sup> *See Comber v. United States*, 584 A.2d 26, 40 (D.C. 1990) (en

---

<sup>3</sup> It is useful to distinguish two distinct categories of defenses to a murder charge. A complete or absolute defense to murder—also sometimes referred to as “excuse” or “justification”—requires the acquittal of the person accused of the murder. The most common example is homicide committed in justified self-defense. Where self-defense or other absolute defense is established, the defendant lacks criminal culpability and cannot be convicted of either murder or manslaughter. *See McPhaul v. United States*, 452 A.2d 371, 373 (D.C. 1982). In contrast, mitigating circumstances are only a *partial* defense to a murder charge—where the government fails to establish beyond a reasonable doubt the absence of mitigating circumstances, the defendant may still be criminally convicted of an intentional homicide, but the

(Footnote Cont’d on Following Page)

banc). The reason the heat-of-passion defense reduces murder to manslaughter is because it mitigates the “malicious nature of the perpetrator’s *mental state*, and thus serve as a bar to a conviction for murder.” *Id.* at 41-42 (emphasis added); *see Logan v. United States*, 483 A.2d 664, 671 (D.C. 1984) (“[W]here the defendant acted with ‘adequate provocation’ . . . , malice may be mitigated . . .”). One who acts in the heat of passion does so with a less culpable mental state than one who kills without adequate provocation. *Comber*, 584 A.2d at 41-42. Because a mental state of malice is an essential element of murder, mitigating circumstances preclude a murder conviction. *Id.* at 36; *Logan*, 683 A.2d at 671.<sup>4</sup>

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