BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

---

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  
COURT OF APPEALS

---

No. 24-CF-830

---

MARCUS WALKER,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT  
OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  
CRIMINAL DIVISION

---

JEANINE FERRIS PIRRO  
United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB  
DANIEL J. LENERZ  
LAUREN GALLOWAY  
\* TIMOTHY R. CAHILL  
D.C. Bar #1032630  
Assistant United States Attorneys

\* Counsel for Oral Argument  
601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232  
Washington, D.C. 20530  
Timothy.Cahill@usdoj.gov  
(202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2022-CF1-6280



Clerk of the Court  
Received 07/11/2025 12:54 PM  
Filed 07/11/2025 12:54 PM

##

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err, let alone plainly err, in its response to a jury note about the “adequate provocation” instruction. Walker’s instant challenge was not preserved at trial because his counsel never disputed the government’s position that the term “response” in the “adequate provocation” instruction referred to the violent act at issue in this case. In any case, the trial court’s response to the jury note accurately stated the law. This Court has repeatedly held that the proportionality limitation on what qualifies as “adequate provocation” to reduce a murder charge to manslaughter is assessed by reference to a defendant’s violent act, and not merely the emotions a defendant felt. *See, e.g., West v. United States*, 499 A.2d 860, 864 (D.C. 1985) (“It is well established that a trivial or slight provocation entirely disproportionate to the violence of the retaliation, is not adequate provocation.”) (quotation marks omitted).

Walker’s ADW conviction for assaulting Moesha Pearce does not merge with his second-degree murder conviction for killing Erik King. These convictions involved different crimes against different victims, and each required proof of at least one element that the other did not. The government agrees, however, that Walker’s conviction for ADW against

a minor merges with his ADW conviction for Pearce. The government also agrees that two of Walker’s three PFCV convictions merge.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Trial Court Did Not Err, Let Alone Plainly Err, in Its Response to the Jury’s Note About Adequate Provocation.**

#### **A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles**

This Court normally reviews de novo a claim challenging whether a jury instruction correctly stated the law. *See Alleyne v. United States*, 327 A.3d 472, 483 (D.C. 2024). Plain-error review applies, however, where the ground on which the instruction is challenged on appeal was not asserted in the trial court. *See id.*; *Robinson v. United States*, 649 A.2d 584, 586 (D.C. 1994). District of Columbia Superior Court Criminal Rule 30 provides: “No party may assign as error any portion of the charge or omission therefrom unless that party objects thereto . . . stating distinctly the matter to which that party objects and the grounds for the objection.” This rule “is equally applicable to reinstructions.” *Robinson*, 649 A.2d at 586 (quotation marks omitted). The purpose of the rule’s specificity requirement is “to give the

trial court the opportunity to correct errors and omissions which otherwise might necessitate a new trial.” *Id.* (quotation marks omitted).<sup>6</sup>

To establish plain error, an appellant must show that (1) the trial court erred; (2) the error was “obvious or readily apparent, and clear under current law”; and (3) the error affected his substantial rights. *See Griffin v. United States*, 144 A.3d 34, 37 (D.C. 2016) (quotation marks omitted). This Court should not use its discretion to correct a forfeited error unless the error resulted in “a miscarriage of justice” or “seriously affect[ed] the fairness, integrity or public reputation of judicial proceedings.” *Id.* (quotation marks omitted). Only rarely will an unpreserved instructional error justify reversal under plain-error review. *See Wilson v. United States*, 785 A.2d 321, 326 (D.C. 2001).

A killing is voluntary manslaughter “where the perpetrator kills with a state of mind which, but for the presence of legally recognized

---

<sup>6</sup> Walker claims (at 20-21) that this Court must review for constitutional error under *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18 (1967), because the reinstruction at issue purportedly involved a “controlling issue.” Even assuming for the sake of argument that *Chapman* would otherwise apply, Walker’s failure to assert at trial the same objection that he presses on appeal “restricts the scope of [this Court’s] review to plain error.” *Robinson*, 649 A.2d at 586. In any event, for the reasons set forth below, Walker’s instructional claim would fail under any standard of review.

mitigating circumstances, would render the killing murder.” *Comber v. United States*, 584 A.2d 26, 42 (D.C. 1990) (en banc). Such circumstances “mitigate[ ] culpability for certain acts where in the interest of social order we cannot altogether excuse those acts.” *High v. United States*, 972 A.2d 829, 836 (D.C. 2009). As relevant here, one such mitigating circumstance is where a defendant “acts in the heat of passion caused by adequate provocation.” *Id.* at 833.

“The test of sufficiency of such provocation is that which would cause an ordinary man, a reasonable man, or an average man, to become aroused as to kill another.” *High*, 972 A.2d at 836 (quoting *Brown v. United States*, 584 A.2d 537, 542-43 (D.C. 1990)). In other words, “[t]he provocation must be so serious” that “even an ordinarily law-abiding person of reasonable temperament might become sufficiently upset by the provocation to experience substantial impairment of his capacity for self-control and, as a consequence, to act violently.” *High*, 972 A.2d at 834 (quoting Joshua Dressler, *Why Keep the Provocation Defense?: Some Reflections on a Difficult Subject*, 86 Minn. L. Rev. 959, 974 (2002)). Thus, “[i]t is well established that a ‘trivial or slight provocation entirely disproportionate to the violence of the retaliation, is not adequate

provocation.” *West v. United States*, 499 A.2d 860, 864 (D.C. 1985) (quoting *Nicholson v. United States*, 368 A.2d 561, 565 (D.C. 1977)).

## **B. Additional Background**

Walker’s trial counsel requested a jury instruction on voluntary manslaughter while armed as a lesser-included offense of first-degree murder while armed based on the heat of passion caused by adequate provocation (5/2/24 Tr. 40-42). The government opposed giving such an instruction, arguing there was insufficient evidence of mitigating circumstances to warrant it (*id.* at 43-45). The trial court ruled that although there may not be “a lot of evidence” supporting the instruction, there was at least “some evidence” based on Walker “go[ing] into the bedroom and see[ing] his ex-girlfriend having sex with somebody else with a child right next to them” (*id.* at 46-47).

After instructing the jury on the elements of second-degree murder while armed—which required the jury to find, among other things, that “there were no mitigating circumstances”—the trial court gave the following instruction:

Mitigating circumstances can exist when a person acts in the heat of passion caused by adequate provocation.

Heat of passion includes such emotion as rage, resentment, anger, terror, and fear. Adequate provocation is conduct on the part of another that would cause an ordinary, reasonable person in the heat of the moment to lose his self-control and act on impulse and without reflection.

For a provocation to be considered adequate, the person's response must not be entirely out of proportion to the seriousness of the provocation. An act of violence or an immediate threat of violence may be adequate provocation, but mere words, no matter how offensive, are never adequate provocation.

The Government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that there were no mitigating circumstances.

(5/2/24 Tr. 81-82.)

The jury began deliberations on the morning of Friday, May 3, 2024 (5/2/24 Tr. 154). At 4:50 p.m. that day, just before the close of court, the jury sent the following note:

When discussing "adequate provocation," should we define the response as heat of passion, "such emotions as rage, resentment, anger, terror, and fear" OR the acts you carried out because of heat of passion? We are working from the language on page 14 continued on page 15 of the "Jury Instructions" in section titled "Mitigating Circumstances."

Additionally, can we receive an alternative definition of mitigating circumstances that is more concrete or streamlined or plainspoken?

(A589.)

The government submitted its proposed response over the ensuing weekend (A590-94). As to the jury's first question, the government asserted that "the 'response' referenced in the instruction means the violent act that is at issue in the case" (A591). The government cited multiple decisions from this Court that "made clear that the analysis of proportionality is one that weighs the provocation against the *killing*, not just the development of emotions" (A591-92). Based on this authority, the government proposed the following response:

At page 14 of the Final Instructions, there is a sentence that reads: "for a provocation to be considered 'adequate,' the person's response must not be entirely out of proportion to the seriousness of the provocation." The word "response" refers in this case to the Defendant's alleged shooting of Mr. King. It does not merely refer to the Defendant's alleged development of emotions such as rage, resentment, anger, terror, or fear.

(A592.) As to the jury's second question, which requested an "alternative definition of mitigating circumstances" (A589), the government proposed the following response based on *High*, 972 A.2d at 833:

Mitigating circumstances "exist where [the] person acts in the heat of passion caused by adequate provocation." Provocation is adequate where it would "naturally induce a reasonable man in the passion of the moment to lose self-control and commit the act on impulse and without reflection." The circumstances must be such that "an ordinary person in the [defendant's] circumstances, even an ordinarily law-abiding person of reasonable temperament, might become sufficiently upset by

the provocation to experience substantial impairment of his capacity for self-control and, as a consequence, to act violently.”

(A593.)

On the morning of May 6, 2024, shortly before court resumed, Walker’s trial counsel submitted a proposed response to the jury note, based on *United States v. Alexander*, 471 F.2d 923, 944-45 (D.C. Cir. 1972) (A597-99). The defense proposal did not distinguish between the jury’s first and second questions (A599). Contrary to Walker’s claim (at 7, 14), the defense also did not “disagree” with the government about the meaning of the word “response” in the original jury instruction (A597-99). Indeed, the defense’s proposed reinstruction did not address the jury’s question about the term “response” at all (*id.*). It read as follows:

If a homicide is committed in the heat of passion caused by adequate provocation, then the defendant is not guilty of the offense of first or second degree murder. In addition to adequate provocation, there must be heat of passion caused by that provocation. Both the provocation and the passion must exist at the time the injury or injuries causing the death of the deceased are inflicted.

“Heat of passion” includes rage, resentment, anger, terror, and fear. Heat of passion may be produced by fear as well as by rage.

Provocation, in order to be adequate to acquit defendant of first or second degree murder, must be such as might naturally induce a reasonable man in the passion of the moment to lose self-control and commit the act on impulse and without reflection.

You are reminded that the burden is on the Government to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant is guilty of murder. With regard to provocation, therefore, the Government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that provocation did not occur, or that any provocation that did occur was not adequate as a matter of law, or that defendant was not in the heat of passion caused by that provocation. In other words, if you have a reasonable doubt whether or not the defendant acted in heat of passion caused by adequate provocation, the verdict must be not guilty of murder in the second degree.

(A599.)

During the hearing about the jury note, Walker's counsel objected to the government's proposed response on only one ground, arguing that it "improperly divorce[d] . . . heat of passion and adequate provocation as both have to be present" (5/6/24 Tr. 4-5). Walker's counsel elaborated that "both things . . . the heat of passion as well as the provocation must be present and the government's proposed instruction separates those to relying on the words specifically on response and makes them two separate things; whereas, the case law says that they are both being present" (*id.* at 9).

The government responded that the defense's proposed reinstruction was "an attempt to answer the [jury's] second [question], but it . . . [did] not in any way answer the juror[s'] actual confusion about the meaning of the word response" (5/6/24 Tr. 6). *See generally Alcindore v. United States*, 818

A.2d 152, 155 (D.C. 2003) (“When the jury explains specific difficulties, the trial court should clear them away with concrete accuracy.”) (quotation marks omitted). Referencing this Court’s decisions cited in the government’s written filing, government counsel reiterated that “the case law is very clear” that “response” refers to “the acts [the defendant] carried out because of that [purported] heat of passion” (5/6/24 Tr. 11-12).

The trial court agreed, “consistent with the case law,” that the “response” referenced in the original instruction was “the act that’s committed in the heat of passion” (5/6/24 Tr. 12). Walker’s counsel did not voice disagreement with that conclusion at any time during the hearing (*id.* at 2-24). Instead, defense counsel reiterated that the instruction must require “both heat of passion and provocation at the same time,” adding that the court’s proposal “answered the response, but you can’t divorce it from the heat of passion” (*id.* at 16). To address this concern, the trial court agreed to add the defense’s proposed language defining “heat of passion,” and to add a sentence reminding the jury that the government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Walker “was not acting in the heat of passion caused by adequate provocation” (*id.* at 18-19). Government counsel and defense counsel both indicated they were “fine” with the court’s

final language, although Walker’s counsel preserved an objection based on the court not fully adopting the proposed instruction that the defense had submitted earlier (*id.* at 20).

Around 10:40 a.m. on May 6, 2024, the trial court responded to the jury note as follows:

In response to your first question, Page 14 of the Final Instructions states “for a provocation to be considered ‘adequate,’ the person’s response must not be entirely out of proportion to the seriousness of the provocation.” In this case, the word “response” refers to Mr. Walker’s alleged shooting of Mr. King. “Heat of passion” includes such emotions as rage, resentment, anger, terror or fear.

I want to remind you that, for either first-degree murder while armed or second-degree murder while armed, the Government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Walker was not acting in the heat of passion caused by adequate provocation.

In response to your second question, mitigating circumstances exist where the person acts in the heat of passion caused by adequate provocation. Provocation is adequate when it would naturally induce a reasonable person in the passion of the moment to lose self-control and commit the act on impulse and without reflection. The circumstances must be such that an ordinary person in the defendant’s circumstances might become sufficiently upset by the provocation to experience a substantial impairment of his capacity for self-control and, as a consequence, to act violently.

(A600; 5/6/24 Tr. 21-22.)

The jury resumed deliberations and returned a verdict at 3 p.m. the following day (5/7/24 Tr. 16).

### C. Discussion

Walker's claim (at 22) that the trial court should have instructed the jury "that 'response' in the original instruction referred to a heat of passion such that a reasonable person might lose self-control and act on impulse or without reflection" is asserted for the first time on appeal and thus subject to plain-error review. *See Alleyne*, 327 A.3d at 483; *Robinson*, 649 A.2d at 586. Walker's contention (at 15) that this claim was preserved merely because his counsel raised "an objection" to the trial court's reinstruction is incorrect. "[N]ot any objection will suffice to ensure plenary appellate review." *Wheeler v. United States*, 930 A.2d 232, 241 (D.C. 2007). Rather, "[t]o preserve an argument of instructional error for appeal, a party must bring *that argument* to the trial court's attention." *Alleyne*, 327 A.3d at 483 (emphasis added); *see also Wheeler*, 930 A.2d at 240 ("[A]n instruction cannot be objected to on one ground in the trial court and attacked in the appellate court on a different ground.") (quoting 1 Kevin F. O'Malley et al., *Federal Jury Practice and Instructions* § 7.04 (5th ed. 2000)). The objection raised in the trial court "must be specific enough to direct the judge's attention to the correct rule of law and be made with

sufficient precision to indicate distinctly the party’s thesis.” *Alleyne*, 327 A.3d at 483 (quotation marks omitted).

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